IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 24-16

---

SCA EFiled: Apr 11 2024  
10:56AM EDT  
Transaction ID 72723124

JAMES DEE MCKINNEY AKA 1227,  
*Petitioner,*

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,  
*Respondent.*

---

PETITIONER JAMES DEE MCKINNEY'S BRIEF

---

Civil Action No. 23-F-36  
In the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia  
(Honorable Thomas A. Bedell)

**Counsel for Petitioner, James Dee McKinney**

John D. Pizzo (WV Bar #12680)  
Addison M. O'Rourke (WV Bar #14281)  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC  
400 White Oaks Boulevard  
Bridgeport, WV 26330  
(304) 933-8000  
john.pizzo@steptoe-johnson.com  
addison.orourke@steptoe-johnson.com

**

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The Circuit Court impermissibly allowed testimony of a witness that did not appear at trial in violation of the Confrontation Clause.
2. The Circuit Court impermissibly allowed hearsay testimony to be admitted at trial.
3. The Circuit Court imposed an excessive sentence that shocks the conscious because it relied on improper factors and the sentence was disproportionate to the sentences given to the other actors involved in the incident.
4. The Circuit Court failed to instruct witnesses to not discuss the case with one another.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On July 25, 2022, Petitioner James Dee McKinney (“Petitioner”), went to the residence of Charles Shaner and Sabrina Woodson to obtain drugs for him and his friends. (A.R. 755). During this time, Petitioner admittedly struggled with drugs and addiction. (A.R. 754). Petitioner went to Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson’s residence at the suggestion of Stoane Lockett, after informing Mr. Lockett that he no longer had a connection to buy drugs from. (A.R. 755). Petitioner was accompanied by Mr. Lockett, Joseph Robinson, and Jennifer Walls. *Id.*

Petitioner contends that upon arrival at Mr. Woodson’s and Ms. Shaner’s residence and his request for the drugs, Mr. Shaner began weighing out drugs for Petitioner. (A.R. 756). It was at this point that Mr. Shaner noticed that his wallet and the bag containing the remainder of his drugs were missing. (A.R. 757). Mr. Shaner then noticed that three cell phones were missing. *Id.* Petitioner maintains that Mr. Lockett was the one that removed the drugs, wallet, and phones from the residence. *Id.* Upon Mr. Shaner’s realization that certain items were missing, he began to “freak out” and Petitioner ran from the property. (A.R. 757–58). Petitioner admits he ran from the property with the drugs Mr. Shaner was weighing for him when Mr. Shaner began to “freak out.” (A.R. 758). As a result of the incident, Petitioner, Mr. Lockett, Mr. Robinson, and Ms. Walls were charged with a variety of crimes.

However, the testimony of Mr. Shaner and the testifying detectives varied greatly from that of Petitioner's. At trial, the State's witnesses testified that upon entering the home, Petitioner, Mr. Robinson, and Mr. Lockett demanded drugs and money. (A.R. 334). Mr. Shaner further testified that Petitioner carried a firearm and made threats to Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson during the incident at issue. (A.R. 334–35). However, Petitioner testified that he did not threaten Mr. Shaner or Ms. Woodson and that he did not have a firearm with him that evening. (A.R. 763–64).

At the conclusion of a four-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty of two counts of first degree robbery, one count of possession of a firearm by a person prohibited from possessing a firearm, and presentation of a firearm during the commission of a felony.<sup>1</sup> The Court imposed a determinate sentence of seventy-five (75) years; thirty (30) years for each count of first degree robbery, five (5) years for possession of a firearm by a prohibited person, and ten (10) years for presentation of a firearm during the commission of a felony, all to be served consecutively. (A.R. 882–84). For Petitioner, age 40, the cumulative sentence of seventy-five (75) years is effectively a life sentence. Petitioner now appeals his conviction and sentence based upon improper evidentiary findings and improper instructions proffered by the Circuit Court.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court erred when it (1) allowed testimony that violated Petitioner's constitutional protections under the Confrontation Clause, (2) allowed improper hearsay testimony, (3) relied on improper factors to sentence Petitioner for a much greater time than that

---

<sup>1</sup> At trial, Petitioner was also tried for and acquitted of the following charges related to an April 2023 incident: (1) first degree robbery, (2) possession of a firearm by a person prohibited of possessing a firearm, (3) assault during commission of a felony, and (4) presentation of a firearm during the commission of a felony.

of the other persons involved in the incident, and (4) failed to instruct witnesses not to discuss the case or their testimony with anyone outside of counsel.

The Circuit Court improperly allowed hearsay testimony from a testifying detective regarding statements one of the victims allegedly made. This victim did not appear at trial or otherwise submit herself to cross examination. Respondent did not fulfill the requirements to establish the victim as unavailable and therefore, the admission of the statement violated Petitioner's Confrontation Clause rights and is grounds for reversal.

This same statement also violated the rule against hearsay because the detective testified as to an out of court statement, made by someone other than himself, for the truth of the matter asserted. Furthermore, this statement was highly prejudicial and offered little to no probative value. The Circuit Court should have granted the requested mistrial or at least instructed the jury to disregard the statement in the interest of fair justice. The failure to do so allowed improper influence on the jury, discredited the trial as a whole, and now provides grounds for reversal.

Furthermore, Peitioner's sentence far exceeds that of the other actors involved in the incident. In particular, there was one other actor who faced the exact same charges as Petitioner. However, this person was given a sentence of less than half of Petitioner's sentence. Moreover, the Circuit Court relied on an impermissible factor – Petitioner's failure to accept responsibility – when imposing this sentence. Relying on failure to accept responsibility as a ground for imposing an unduly long sentence is improper when a defendant maintained their innocence and exercised their Sixth Amendment right to a trial by a jury of their peers. Accordingly, the Circuit Court's reliance on Petitioner's "failure to accept responsibility" was improper and constitutes grounds for reversal of Petitioner's sentence.

Lastly, West Virginia Rule of Evidence 615 makes the exclusion of witnesses a matter of right. Furthermore, West Virginia precedent requires that once Rule 615 is invoked, the witnesses should be clearly instructed that when they leave the courtroom, they are not to discuss the case nor their testimony with anyone other than counsel for either side. Here, instead of issuing this instruction itself, the Circuit Court instructed counsel to provide this instruction to their witnesses. This was improper because this method provides no guarantee to Petitioner that Respondent's witnesses were ever actually given this instruction. Therefore, it is likely that Respondent's witnesses could have discussed the case and their testimony with one another and therefore prejudiced the proceedings. Accordingly, a reversal upon this ground is also warranted.

For these reasons, the Court should reverse Petitioner's sentence and conviction and remand the matter for a new trial.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

This appeal is suitable for oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 19(a) because it involves the assignment of errors in the application of settled law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **I. The Circuit Court impermissibly allowed testimony of a witness that did not appear at trial in violation of the Confrontation Clause.**

Both the United States Constitution and West Virginia Constitution are clear that a defendant's constitutional rights will be violated if a court permits the admission of testimonial evidence by a witness who does not appear at trial, so long as the witness is available to testify, and the accused has not had the opportunity to cross examine the witness. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *see also* W. Va. CONST. art. III, § 14.

Pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), Confrontation Clause contained within the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III of the

Section 14 of West Virginia Constitution bars the admission of a testimonial statement by a witness who does not appear at trial, unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness.

Syl. Pt. 6, *State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311 (2006) (overruled on other grounds).

Here, the Circuit Court allowed testimony from one of Respondent's witnesses regarding statements one of the alleged victims made during a telephone call. This alleged victim did not appear at trial, nor did Respondent prove that she was unavailable. Furthermore, the statements from the victim were made during a telephone call with the officer only, and therefore Petitioner was unable to cross examine the alleged victim regarding these statements. Accordingly, this testimony was grounds for a mistrial, or at the very least, should have prompted an instruction by the Circuit Court for the jury to disregard these statements. The fact that the Circuit Court failed to assert either of these remedies is a reversible error that the Court should now remedy.

**A. The statement of the Ms. Woodson was testimonial.**

Under the Confrontation Clauses contained within both the United States and West Virginia Constitutions, "a witness's statement taken by a law enforcement officer in the course of an interrogation is testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the witness's statement is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." Syl. Pt. 9, *State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. "A witness's statement taken by a law enforcement officer in the course of an interrogation is non-testimonial when made under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the statement is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." *Id.*

The West Virginia Supreme Court has further clarified that, when it said in *Crawford* that "interrogations by law enforcement officers fall squarely within [the] class" of testimonial hearsay

barred from use at trial, it meant that the Confrontation Clause only bars the use of statements made during “interrogations solely directed at establishing the facts of a past crime, in order to identify (or provide evidence to convict) the perpetrator.” *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 826 (2006) (citing *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53). In other words, witness statements made to law enforcement officers that are comparable to those that would be given in a courtroom – that is, statements about “what happened” – are testimonial statements, the use of which is proscribed by the Confrontation Clause. *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 376, 633 S.E.2d at 321.

In fact, the United States Supreme Court has further held that the protections of the Confrontation Clause may not be evaded simply “by having a note-taking policeman recite the unsworn hearsay testimony of the declarant, instead of having the declarant sign a deposition.” *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 826. “Indeed, if there is one point for which no case - English or early American, state or federal - can be cited, that is it.” *Id.*

During the trial, Respondent called Detective Josh Cumberledge to testify. (A.R. 377). On cross examination, Petitioner asked Detective Cumberledge if he looked for, or located, a firearm inside Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson’s home and whether Mr. Shaner informed the detective that he owned a firearm similar to that allegedly used by Petitioner during the robbery. (A.R. 426–28). During this questioning, Detective Cumberledge repeatedly stated that he did not recall whether Mr. Shaner told him that he owned a firearm during one of their calls. *Id.* At this time, Petitioner provided a transcript of one of these telephone calls and asked the detective to review it. (A.R. 429). Petitioner asked the detective to “[p]lease read that quietly to yourself and see if that refreshes your recollection as to that particular conversation.” *Id.* After an in-camera discussion with the attorneys and the Judge, Petitioner asked Detective Cumberledge to continue reviewing the transcript and to “just let us know when you’re finished.” (A.R. 431).

At this time, Detective Cumberledge testified, unprompted, as follows:

Okay. Yes. I refreshed my memory on this. I do vividly recall a phone conversation from August 9th, '22 where Sabrina Woodson had called in where she was trying to inform me that through an acquaintance of Charlie's and Sabrina's who are also acquaintances of James McKinney that they have been openly telling everyone that they planned to kill--

*Id.* Detective Cumberledge was immediately cut off by Petitioner in an attempt to not further prejudice Petitioner and the proceeding. *Id.*

The incident at issue occurred on July 25, 2022. (A.R. 52). The call took place on August 9, 2022. (A.R. 431). Accordingly, there was no ongoing emergency when this statement was made to Detective Cumberledge. Syl. Pt. 9, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. Furthermore, this telephone call was made in the course of Detective Cumberledge's investigation, as evidenced by the following answers that were given by Detective Cumberledge at trial:

A. Now, this -- you said this particular conversation was not from the initial report where I had spoken with the victims on the day of the robbery, correct? This was later on throughout my investigation?

Q. Correct. I believe that the telephone call was dated -- excuse me, recording was dated August 9th.

A. Tuesday, August 9th. Okay. So this would've been a follow up afterwards.

(A.R. 429–30). Clearly, the August 9th call was part of Detective Cumberledge's investigation into the incident. This investigation had the purpose of establishing or proving past events that would later be relevant to the criminal prosecution of Petitioner. Syl. Pt. 9, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. This, coupled with the fact that there was no ongoing emergency, requires a finding that this statement was testimonial. Furthermore, *Davis* makes clear that an officer is not permitted to "recite unsworn hearsay testimony" or use any statement made during an interrogation

directed solely at establishing the facts of a past crime “in order to provide evidence to convict the perpetrator.” 547 U.S. at 826.

**B. Ms. Woodson was Not Unavailable.**

*Mechling* requires that the testimonial statement be by “a witness who does not appear at trial.” Syl. Pt. 6, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. Ms. Woodson was not only a witness but an alleged victim of the incident. (A.R. 796). Furthermore, for reasons unknown, she did not appear or testify at trial. Accordingly, in order for her testimonial statement to be admitted, Respondent needed to prove Ms. Woodson was unavailable to testify, which Respondent did not do, and that Petitioner had the opportunity to cross examine her regarding her statements, which he did not have. Syl. Pt. 6, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. Respondent was well aware of the process required to deem a witness unavailable. (A.R. 29–32) (discussing the procedure for calling Joshua Boram in light of the fact he was unlikely to appear for trial). Despite this, Respondent engaged in no such practice regarding Ms. Woodson and did not attempt to classify her as an unavailable witness.

Respondent may argue that Ms. Woodson was “unavailable” because of Petitioner’s alleged “intimidation” tactics and therefore the admission of the statement does not constitute grounds for reversal. *See Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 366, 633 S.E.2d at 311 (holding that one who obtains the absence of a witness by wrongdoing forfeits his constitutional right to confrontation). However, this argument necessarily fails because, in order to allow such testimony, the State needed to establish that Ms. Woodson’s absence was caused by Petitioner’s wrongdoing. However, Respondent did not give any reason for Ms. Woodson’s absence and made no effort to have Ms. Woodson declared unavailable. Accordingly, Respondent should not now be allowed to retroactively argue the statement was permissible due to unavailability caused by alleged

intimidation. This unavailability needed to be established *prior to* the admission of the testimonial hearsay statement and cannot now be asserted to rebut the improper admission of the statement.

**C. Petitioner did not have an opportunity to cross examine Ms. Woodson.**

In addition to the fact that Ms. Woodson was not unavailable to testify at trial, Petitioner did not have an opportunity to cross examine Ms. Woodson about her statement. The August 9th call occurred between Detective Cumberledge and Ms. Woodson and/or Mr. Shaner as part of Detective Cumberledge's investigation. (A.R. 428). Petitioner was not present during this call and did not have the opportunity to cross examine Ms. Woodson regarding this statement. Furthermore, a deposition of Ms. Woodson was never taken, and as discussed above, Ms. Woodson did not appear at trial to testify and submit to cross examination. Accordingly, Petitioner never had the opportunity to cross examine Ms. Woodson.

**D. The Circuit Court should have granted Petitioner's request for a mistrial or instructed the jury to disregard the testimony, and its failure to do so constitutes reversible error.**

"Failure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 5, *State ex rel. Grob v. Blair*, 158 W.Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975). "Errors involving deprivation of constitutional rights will be regarded as harmless only if there is *no reasonable possibility* that the violation contributed to the conviction." *State v. Jenkins*, 195 W.Va. 620, 629, 466 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1995) (emphasis added) (quoting, Syl. Pt. 20, *State v. Thomas*, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974)). Moreover, once an error of constitutional dimensions is shown, the burden is upon "the beneficiary of a constitutional error" – usually the State – "to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Chapman v. Cal.*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967).

Here, in order to hold that the violation of Petitioner’s constitutional right was harmless, this Court would have to determine that unsubstantiated testimony regarding Petitioner’s statements about killing the alleged victims did not contribute to Petitioner’s conviction. During the trial, Respondent made it its theme to portray Petitioner as a violent criminal that was capable of committing a violent robbery. (A.R. 432) (“Mr. Armstrong. The -- the entirety of this trial has been premised on threats and intimidation of witnesses by Mr. McKinney...”). Detective Cumberledge offered this improper testimony as a way of adding to the Respondent’s arguably improper portrayal of Petitioner and his alleged violent propensities. A jury would likely infer that someone who is willing to discuss killing people, would be capable of committing a robbery or may possess a firearm that could assist in the commission of such killing. Accordingly, this statement undoubtedly contributed to Petitioner’s conviction for robbery, possession of a firearm, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. Because the statement contributed to Petitioner’s conviction, the violation of Petitioner’s constitutional rights was not harmless, and this error must be reversed in the interest of justice.

Respondent may argue that that the testimony did not violate Petitioner’s Confrontation Clause rights because it was admitted during Petitioner’s cross examination of one of the State’s witnesses and therefore was not directly solicited by counsel for the State. *See State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 350, 607 S.E.2d 437, 456 (2004) (holding that “...a party ‘will not be permitted to complain of error in the admission of evidence which he offered or elicited.’” (citing *State v. Bowman*, 155 W. Va. 562, 184 S.E.2d 314 (1971))). In *Dennis*, the trial court allowed the victim’s statement to be read into the record by the detective who took the statement but only *after* the appellant had the detective read from the statement during cross examination. Here, the Petitioner did not ask the detective to read from the transcript. Petitioner gave the transcript to the detective

for the sole purpose of refreshing an adverse witness's recollection. Furthermore, Petitioner explicitly instructed the witness to read the statement to himself and let the Petitioner know if it refreshed his recollection. (A.R. 430–31). Detective Cumberlandge's reading of the hearsay statement was wholly unsolicited and improper.

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