IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
Appeal No. 24-16

SCA EFiled: May 28 2024
04:36PM EDT
Transaction ID 73247808

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES DEE MCKINNEY, AKA 1227,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mary Beth Niday (WV Bar # 9092)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

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

Petitioner requested a sidebar and moved for a mistrial based on the Detective’s statement regarding Petitioner’s threat to kill Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson. App. 432:9-12. In response, the State argued that the entirety of the trial was “premised on threats and intimidation of witnesses by [Petitioner] and people acting as his agents.” App. 432:14-16. The State noted that Mr. Shaner testified that he had received those threats from Petitioner, Mr. Lockett, and others. App. 432:17-21. The State argued that because the Detective’s testimony was consistent with evidence already presented, a mistrial was not warranted. App. 432:21-23. The Court acknowledged that Petitioner “created the situation” by asking the Detective to review the transcript for an extended period and allowing the Detective to respond to Petitioner. App. 433:7-9. Petitioner argued that he did not ask Detective Cumberledge to read the transcript aloud verbatim but simply asked him to “refresh his recollection on whether that point had come up before, and I don’t believe that gives him carte blanche to just start reading a transcript.” App. 433:23-24; 434:1-2. The court stated that Petitioner had asked the same question of the Detective eight times and that the allegations of violence and threats was persistent throughout the trial. App. 434:21-24; 435:1-5. The circuit court, thus, properly denied Petitioner’s request for a mistrial. App. 435:8-9.

A. Petitioner cannot complain of any error in the admission of Detective Cumberledge’s testimony because he elicited the testimony and actually invited the error.

This Court has held, “[a] judgment will not be reversed for any error in the record introduced by or invited by the party asking for the reversal.” Syl. pt. 21, *State v. Riley*, 151 W.

Va. 364, 151 S.E.2d 308 (1966), *overruled on other grounds by Proudfoot v. Dan's Marine Serv., Inc.*, 210 W. Va. 498, 558 S.E.2d 298 (2001).

“Invited error” is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range of conduct. It is a branch of the doctrine of waiver which prevents a party from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous [ruling] and then later seeking to profit from that error. The idea of invited error is . . . to protect principles underlying notions of judicial economy and integrity by allocating appropriate responsibility for the inducement of error. Having induced an error, a party in a normal case may not at a later stage of the trial use the error to set aside its immediate and adverse consequences.

State v. Rollins, 233 W. Va. 715, 728, 760 S.E.2d 529, 542 (2014) (quoting *State v. Crabtree*, 198 W. Va. 620, 627, 482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996)). Petitioner asked Detective Cumberledge at least eight times about Mr. Shaner’s firearm and about certain statements Mr. Shaner gave to the Detective. Petitioner’s counsel asked the Detective repeatedly to read the transcript of a telephone call between him and the victims and to let counsel know when he was finished. In response to Petitioner’s question, the Detective testified that he was done and that he “vividly” remembered what Ms. Woodson told him. He testified as to what she said and only when the testimony broached an area Petitioner did not like did he then object. By now claiming error, Petitioner has fallen squarely into the realm of invited error. “An appellant . . . in error will not be permitted to complain of error in the admission of evidence which he offered or elicited, and this is true even of a defendant in a criminal case.” *Id.*, syl. pt. 4 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Because Petitioner elicited the testimony from Detective Cumberledge, he should not be allowed to complain that admission of the evidence was improper under the invited error doctrine. Should this Court find that Petitioner did not invite any alleged error in admitting the testimony, the State further addresses each of his claims below.

B. Petitioner’s constitutional right to confront witnesses was not violated when the circuit court admitted Detective Cumberledge’s testimony.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to confront witnesses who testify against the defendant at trial. *See State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 371, 633 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2006), *holding modified by State v. Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474 (2021). The Confrontation Clause provides, “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. “Pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36[] (2004), the Confrontation Clause . . . bars the admission of a testimonial statement by a witness who does not appear at trial, unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness.” Syl. pt. 1, *Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474, *cert. denied sub nom. Jako v. West Virginia*, 142 S. Ct. 1680 (2022); *see also* syl. pt. 6, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. Ms. Woodson was not at trial and Petitioner did not get to cross-examine her, so the question is whether her challenged statement was testimonial. *In re C.B.*, 245 W. Va. 666, 675, 865 S.E.2d 68, 77 (2021) (stating only testimonial statements trigger the Confrontation Clause).

This Court follows the United States Supreme Court in defining “testimonial” statements using a “‘core class’ of testimonial materials that may be broadened by use of the ‘primary purpose’ test.” *State v. Kennedy*, 229 W. Va. 756, 765, 735 S.E.2d 905, 914 (2012) (quoting *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 310 (2009)). These core materials are chiefly “ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent—that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations” and the resulting statements or confessions, depositions, affidavits, and “prior testimony . . . , or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially.” *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51-52 (2004). A testimonial statement is

“a statement that is made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.” Syl. pt. 7, *State v. Henson*, 239 W. Va. 898, 806 S.E.2d 822 (2017) (quoting syl. pt. 8, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311). Ms. Woodson’s statement was made to Detective Cumberledge in an informal setting: during a telephone call regarding questions the Detective had of Ms. Woodson and Mr. Shiner regarding the robbery.

That a statement is made to an officer outside an interrogation is good evidence it is not intended to replace trial testimony. *State v. Kaufman*, 227 W. Va. 537, 551, 711 S.E.2d 607, 621 (2011); *see also Ohio v. Clark*, 576 U.S. 237, 244-45 (2015). If statements do not flow from an interrogation, courts are hesitant to call them testimonial. *United States v. Bowen*, 511 F. Supp. 3d 441, 448 (S.D.N.Y. 2021). Even more when the declarant offers the information unprompted: Indeed, some States have a general rule that “spontaneous statements to the police are not testimonial.” *Villanueva v. State*, 576 S.W.3d 400, 405 (Tex. App. 2019). So, in *State v. Warsame*, 735 N.W.2d 684, 692 (Minn. 2007), for example, when an injured domestic violence victim walked to a police department to report the crime, the court held that non-interrogation statement nontestimonial—even though the whole purpose of the statement was to form the basis for a criminal investigation. Here, Ms. Woodson voluntarily made her statement during a telephone call, and without “the structure and formality of an official interrogation”—so the case against finding it testimonial is even clearer than in *Warsame*. Her statements, therefore, were not testimonial as they were not “made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonable to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.” Syl. pt. 6, *State v. Bouie*, 235 W. Va. 709, 776 S.E.2d 606 (2015).

But even if Ms. Woodson's statements were testimonial, they did not violate the Confrontation Clause because they were not admitted for purposes of establishing the truth of the matter asserted. *See Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59 n.9 (“[t]he [Confrontation] Clause . . . does not bar the use of testimonial statements for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted.” *Tennessee v. Street*, 471 U.S. 409, 414[] (1985)”). Ms. Woodson's statements were offered by Detective Cumberlandge to refresh his memory of the call upon the insistence of Petitioner and were not admitted to prove the truth of her statements. *See State v. Morris*, 227 W. Va. 76, 81, 705 S.E.2d 583, 588 (2010).

“The two central requirements for admission of extrajudicial testimony under the Confrontation Clause contained in the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution are: (1) demonstrating the unavailability of the witness to testify; and (2) proving the reliability of the witness's out-of-court statement.” Syl. pt. 3, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. “[T]o satisfy its burden of showing that the witness is unavailable, the State must prove that it has made a good-faith effort to obtain the witness's attendance at trial. This showing necessarily requires substantial diligence.” Syl. pt. 3, *State v. James Edward S.*, 184 W. Va. 408, 400 S.E.2d 843 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311, *holding modified by State v. Kennedy*, 205 W. Va. 224, 517 S.E.2d 457 (1999). If there is no evidence showing “the State's good-faith efforts to secure the witness for trial, the prosecution has failed to carry its burden of proving unavailability.” *Id.* at syl. pt. 4.

Regarding the first prong, the record in this case shows that Petitioner was the party admitting the Detective's testimony and not the State. The State did not attempt to introduce any testimony regarding Ms. Woodson's statements: Petitioner did. As to the second prong, Mr. Shaner previously testified at trial as to threats Petitioner or his agents made against him and Ms. Woodson

so they would not testify against Petitioner. App. 354-56. Thus, the circuit court did not violate the Confrontation Clause in admitting Detective Cumberledge's testimony.

Even if the court erred in admitting the Detective's testimony, such error was harmless. "Failure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. pt. 3, *Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474 (internal quotation and citation omitted). "Courts assessing the harm arising from the introduction of evidence violating the Confrontation Clause have focused upon whether the information gleaned by the jury through such evidence contributed to the verdict or addressed a critical issue involving conflicting and pivotal evidence at trial." *State v. Blevins*, 231 W. Va. 135, 156, 744 S.E.2d 245, 266 (2013). This Court has noted that "[i]n a criminal case, the burden is upon the beneficiary of a constitutional error to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Id.* (quotation omitted). The circuit court found that Ms. Woodson's statement was consistent with other evidence already admitted at trial and hence was reliable and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The statement of Ms. Woodson did not contribute to the verdict and was duplicative of already admitted evidence that Petitioner and his agents had threatened the victims and other possible witnesses. As such, any error the court may have committed in admitting the Detective's testimony is harmless.

C. Detective Cumberledge's testimony referencing Ms. Woodson's statements was not hearsay because it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

Petitioner argues that even if Detective Cumberledge's testimony and Ms. Woodson's statements were not testimonial, the circuit court still should have excluded it because it constituted inadmissible hearsay. Pet'r's Br. 11-15. Pursuant to Rules 803(24) and 804(b)(5), Petitioner argues that Detective Cumberledge's testimony was not trustworthy, was specifically offered to tell the

jury Petitioner was “violent and ha[d] a reason to want to harm Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson,” and was highly prejudicial. Pet’r’s Br. 13.

Rule 801(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence defines hearsay as “a statement that the declarant does not make while testifying at the current trial or hearing” and that “a party offers in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement.” “The hearsay rule . . . does not operate against such testimony offered for the mere purpose of explaining previous conduct.” *State v. Rexrode*, 243 W. Va. 302, 317, 844 S.E.2d 73, 88 (2020) (quoting *State v. Maynard*, 183 W. Va. 1, 4, 393 S.E.2d 221, 224 (1990)).

Petitioner argues that Detective Cumberledge’s testimony constituted hearsay and was admitted solely for the purpose of establishing the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., that “Petitioner is a violent person and had a reason for wanting to kill Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson.” Pet’r’s Br. 12. Petitioner is wrong because the Detective’s testimony was not admitted to prove the truth of Ms. Woodson’s statement regarding Petitioner’s threat against her. Moreover, any error the court may have committed in admitting the testimony was harmless as the evidence was duplicative of evidence already admitted during trial.

A review of the record shows that Detective Cumberledge’s testimony was provided as an explanation for how he remembered the August 9, 2022, telephone call with Ms. Woodson, the transcript of which Petitioner provided the Detective to refresh his recollection regarding whether Ms. Woodson or Mr. Shaner had mentioned a firearm. *See Rexrode*, 243 W. Va. at 317, 844 S.E.2d at 88 (finding that an officer may testify about another individual without offending notions of hearsay when offered to explain the course of the officer’s actions or investigation). Detective Cumberledge’s testimony regarding Ms. Woodson’s statements received as part of his investigation were not offered to prove the matter asserted. Rather, the Detective offered the

statement as a reason why reading the transcript refreshed his recollection of the telephone call. *See State v. Randolph*, 219 So.3d 425, 434 (La. Ct. App. 4 Cir. 2017) (stating law enforcement's testimony may include information from another individual without constituting hearsay when it is offered to explain the course of the investigation or the officer's actions).

Further, the circuit court did not engage in any relevancy analysis. *See State v. Phelps*, 197 W. Va. 713, 478 S.E.2d 563, 572 (1996) (“[*State v. Maynard*], 183 W. Va. 1, 5-6, 393 S.E.2d 221, 225-26 (1991)] instructs us that in the instant matter we must determine whether the officers' testimony was relevant and, if not, did introduction of the testimony amount to harmless error”). The court also did not make any specific findings regarding hearsay, but this is still a valid ground supporting a rejection of Petitioner's arguments. “This Court may, on appeal, [however,] affirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment.” Syl. pt. 4, *White v. Haines*, 215 W. Va. 698, 601 S.E.2d 18 (2004) (quotation omitted). Therefore, the Court should affirm the admission of the Detective's statement on these grounds as well.

The circuit court essentially determined that Detective Cumberlandge's testimony was harmless, or not prejudicial, because the trial was replete with references to allegations that Petitioner and his agents had threatened witnesses not to testify, including the victims, Mr. Shaner and Ms. Woodson. App. 435:1-5; *see also generally*, App. 354-56. Detective Cumberlandge's ever so slight mention of Ms. Woodson's statement regarding Petitioner's threat to her, therefore, was duplicative of other evidence already admitted during the trial. As such, any error the court may have made in admitting the Detective's testimony was harmless. *See also* W. Va. R. Crim. P. 52(a)

(“Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded.”).

II. Petitioner’s sentence is not unconstitutional as it does not shock the conscience, is not based on any impermissible factor, and is not disproportionate to that of his co-defendants.

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